095

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 81,620

SID J. WHITE SID J

THE JUDGES OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA, APPELLATE DIVISION,

Petitioners,

vs.

PAMELA JANOVITZ,

Respondent.

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

On Review From The Third District Court
Of Appeal of Florida
Case No. 92-2447

ROBERT A. GINSBURG
Dade County Attorney
Metro-Dade Center
Suite 2810
111 N.W. 1st Street
Miami, Florida 33128-1993
(305) 375-5151

Ву

Roy Wood Assistant County Attorney

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioners are judges of the appellate division of the Circuit Court of the State of Florida, Eleventh Judicial Circuit. Petitioners invoke the jurisdiction of the Supreme Curt to review a decision of the Third District Court of Appeal which held that a petition for writ of mandamus would be granted because the respondent judges of the circuit court appellate division lacked jurisdiction to enter an order for attorney's fees in an appeal from the county court.

The court of appeal held that the circuit court lacked jurisdiction, because the circuit court had issued its mandate fifty-four days prior to the order for attorney's fees and had not recalled it; furthermore, it held that it did not matter that the mandate and the attorney's fee order were issued in the same term of court. The court of appeal therefore held that mandamus should issue to compel the circuit court to vacate the order for attorney's fees. Formal issuance of the writ was withheld upon the assumption that the circuit court would vacate the order upon receipt of the opinion of the court of appeal.

The Appendix to this Brief on Jurisdiction consists of a true copy of the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal which is here sought to be reviewed and a true copy of the decisions of the Supreme Court in Masser v. London

Operating Co., 106 Fla. 474, 145 So. 72 (1932) and

Finklestein v. North Broward Hospital District, 484 So.2d 1241 (Fla. 1986), with which we contend the decision sought to be

reviewed expressly and directly conflicts. The pages of the Appendix will be indicated by: "A-". The facts relied upon in this brief are only such facts as appear in the decision sought to be reviewed.

The decision sought to be reviewed was filed January 26, 1993, and a motion for rehearing was filed February 9, 1993. The order denying rehearing was filed March 16, 1993, and Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction was filed April 14, 1993.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Express and direct conflict necessary to invoke the jurisdiction of this Honorable Court may be manifested by a discussion in the decision sought to be reviewed of the legal principles applied in reaching said decision.

The decision of the Third District Court of Appeal sought to be reviewed conflicts with the decision of the Supreme Court in Masser v. London Operating Co., 106 Fla. 474, 145 So. 72 (1932). In the Masser v. London Operating Co. decision, the Court held that recall of the previously issued mandate was not required in order for the Supreme Court to consider a motion to tax costs incident to the appeal.

The decision sought to be reviewed conflicts with the decision of the Supreme Court in Finklestein v. North Broward
Hospital District, 484 So.2d 1241 (Fla. 1986). In Finklestein, the Court held that a post-judgment motion for attorney's fees filed in a trial court raises a collateral and independent claim which the trial court may entertain within a reasonable time even where the litigation of the main claim has been concluded with finality.

The decision sought to be reviewed holds that an appellate court may not enter an order for attorney's fees incident to the appeal unless a previously issued mandate is recalled. The discussion of the legal principles applied by the district court manifests express and direct conflict with Masser and with Finklestein; because, the latter decisions hold that loss of jurisdiction to adjudicate the main claim

does not deprive the court of power to adjudicate collateral claims independent of the main claim.

The district court decision applies the principle that recall of the mandate, being the method by which an appellate court re-acquires jurisdiction of the merits of an appeal, is essential to determine a claim for appellate attorney's fees. Since the claim for attorney's fees is clearly a collateral and independent claim, the district court decision manifests express and direct conflict with the cited Supreme Court decisions.

The decision sought to be reviewed expressly and directly affects a class of constitutional officers, namely all judges who exercise appellate jurisdiction. This Honorable Court has accepted jurisdiction under this source where a trial court issued a writ of mandamus to compel the court clerk to record a certified copy of a judgment in favor of an indigent without payment of a filing fee, and the District Court reversed.

Upon determination that jurisdiction exists, it is respectfully submitted that this Honorable Court should grant review due to the importance of the issue.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DECISION SOUGHT TO BE REVIEWED EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISIONS OF THE SUPREME COURT IN MASSER V. LONDON OPERATING CO., 106 Fla. 474, 145 So. 72 (1932) AND FINKLESTEIN V. NORTH BROWARD HOSPITAL DISTRICT, 484 So.2d 1241 (Fla. 1986)

In <u>Ford v. Kikis</u>, 401 So.2d 1341, 1342 (Fla. 1981), this
Court held that express and direct conflict of decisions could
be determined upon the basis of the discussion of the legal
principles applied in the decision sought to be reviewed. The
Court cited England, Hunter, and Williams, <u>Constitutional</u>
<u>Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Florida: 1980 Reform</u>, 32
U. Fla. L. Rev. 147, 188-89 (1980). There it is indicated
that the addition of the requirement of "express" conflict is
intended to eliminate review of decisions without written
opinions and that the use of dicta to find conflict is not
ruled out.

In <u>Masser v. London Operating Co., supra</u>, (A4-10), this Court decided an appeal, refused a petition for rehearing, and then denied a motion to recall the mandate. As to the latter motion, the Court stated:

If the appellees feel themselves aggrieved as to the costs which have been taxed against them by the clerk in accordance with the usual practice prevailing here where no special order on the subject is made by the court, a motion to tax or retax such costs is always in order during the term of this court at which the case was finally disposed of. And a recall of the mandate, or the award of a rehearing, is not for the

consideration by us of an appropriate motion for taxing or retaxing the costs incident to, and occasioned by, our own judgment on the appeal. Shepherd v. Rand, 48 Me. 244, 77 Am. Dec. 225.

Motion to recall mandate denied.

145 So. at 79 (A-10).

Any argument that Masser should be distinguished because an award of costs is different than an award of attorney's fees is answered by the statement of this Court in rejecting an effort to defeat conflict jurisdiction in another case wherein it was stated: "This is a distinction without a difference." City of Miami v. Florida Literary Distributing Corp., 486 So.2d 569, 573 (Fla. 1986).

There is no meaningful difference for purposes of this analysis from an award of costs and an award of attorney's fees to the prevailing party, because, both claims are collateral to the main claim and cannot be determined until the main claim is resolved. Thus, in the <u>Finklestein</u> case this Court stated:

Therefore, we adopt the United States Supreme Court's reasoning and holding in White and conclude that a post-judgment motion for attorney's fees raises a "collateral and independent claim" which the trial court has continuing jurisdiction to entertain within a reasonable time, notwithstanding that the litigation of the main claim may have been concluded with finality.

484 So.2d at 1243 (A-13).

The decision sought to be reviewed (A1-2) held that recall of the mandate was essential in order to give an

appellate court the power to make an award of appellate attorney's fees. Recall of the mandate, however, enables the appellate court to reclaim control of its decision on the merits of a plenary appeal. Chapman v. St. Stephens Protestant Episcopal Church, 105 Fla. 683, 138 So. 630 (1932). In other words, recall of the mandate deprives the decision on the merits of finality. Thus, to require recall of the mandate as a prerequisite to an award of appellate attorney's fees constitutes a holding that such award cannot be made if the decision on the merits of the appeal is final. expressly and directly conflicts with Finklestein which states that such award may be made after the judgment has become final. That Finklestein dealt with a trial court award rather than an appellate court award is, again, a "distinction without a difference." City of Miami v. Florida Literary Distributing Corp., supra, 486 So.2d at 573. jurisdictional principles are precisely the same.

Accordingly, we respectfully submit that jurisdiction exists in this Court due to express and direct conflict of decisions.

POINT II

THE DECISION SOUGHT TO BE REVIEWED EXPRESSLY AFFECTS A CLASS OF CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATE OFFICERS

It has been held that where review by this Court of a decision is sought under the "class of constitutional officers" provisions, the decision sought to be reviewed must affect, "the duties, powers, . . . or regulation of a particular class of constitutional or state officers."

Spradley v. State, 293 So.2d 697, 701 (Fla. 1974).

In <u>Ludlow v. Brinker</u>, 403 So.2d 969 (Fla. 1981), the trial court issued a writ of mandamus to compel the clerk of the court to record a certified copy of a judgment in favor of an indigent without requiring a filing fee. The District Court reversed. This Honorable Court accepted jurisdiction because the decision expressly affected all court clerks, a class of constitutional officers, and affirmed the decision of the District Court. This case was decided under the most recent amendment to the Constitution affecting the jurisdiction of this Court.

Accordingly, we submit that it is manifest that the decision herein sought to be reviewed expressly affects all Florida judges who exercise appellate jurisdiction. It deprives them of the power to make an award of attorney's fees without recalling the mandate and thereby depriving the main decision of finality.

POINT III

THIS COURT SHOULD EXERCISE ITS DISCRETION AND TAKE JURISDICTION TO CLARIFY THE LAW WITH RESPECT TO AN IMPORTANT POWER OF AN APPELLATE COURT

The Committee Notes to Fla.R.App.P. 9.120(d) state that it is permitted in a jurisdiction brief to include a short statement of why this Court should exercise its discretion to review this case on the merits if it finds that it does have jurisdiction.

We submit that the decision sought to be reviewed fosters confusion with respect to the nature and scope of appellate jurisdiction. There should not be confusion concerning the power of a court to act.

While it is not in the record, we are advised that this Honorable Court will determine appellate attorney's fees after issuance of the mandate and without recall thereof. If true, we respectfully suggest that the Court may take judicial notice of its own procedure and give consideration thereto in determining whether to exercise its discretion to grant review in this cause.

CONCLUSION

This Honorable Court has jurisdiction and should resolve the cause on the merits.