## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision below by the Third District Court of Appeal that the Petitioner did not have jurisdiction to enter an award of attorney fees 54 days after its mandate issued without first recalling the mandate does not expressly and directly conflict with Masser v. London Operating Co., 106 Fla. 474, 145 So. 72 (1932) because Masser involved taxation of costs under Rule 24 of the Supreme Court Rules which were in effect in 1932 and did not comprehend an award of attorney fees.

In addition, the decision below does not <u>expressly</u> affect a class of constitutional or state officers, in that it does not deprive them of any power and simply confirms existing Florida Law with respect to the jurisdiction of the Appellate Courts.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

THE DECISION SOUGHT TO BE REVIEWED DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH MASSER V. LONDON OPERATING CO., 106 FLA. 474,145 So. 72 (1932) or FINKLESTEIN v. NORTH BROWARD HOSPITAL DISTRICT, 484 So.2d 1241 (Fla. 1986).

The decision below does not expressly and directly conflict with Masser v. London Operating Company 106 Fla. 474, 145 So.72 (1932) because Masser involved an award of appellate court costs under Supreme Court Rule 24 (Taxation of Costs) which was in effect in 1932 and the present case deals with an award of attorney fees pursuant to Rule 9.400(b) of the present Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

Rule 24, which was in effect when <u>Masser</u> was decided in 1932, provided that the <u>Clerk</u> of the Supreme Court was to tax all legal costs against the losing party (A-1). Rule 24 made no mention of appellate attorney fees and in fact this Court in <u>De Bowes v. De Bowes</u>, 12 So.2d 118 Fla. (1943), at 120, specifically held that Rule 24 does not comprehend attorney fees:

It is not clear how the appellant expects to avail herself of the provisions of Rule 24. In the first place, it does not comprehend counsel fees. <u>DeBowes</u>, at 120.

In addition, just like the decision below, the appellant in <u>De</u>

<u>Bowes</u> attempted to obtain an award of attorney fees after the

appellate mandate issued. This Court held that the Appellant could

not obtain an award of attorney fees because, among other reasons,

"This court lost jurisdiction of the case when the mandate was

issued and the June term, 1942 closed." <u>DeBowes</u>, at 120.

Costs were treated in almost a ministerial fashion under Rule 24 of the earlier Supreme Court Rules. An award of attorney fees involves a substantive analysis and must be addressed by the Court before it loses jurisdiction by the issuance of its mandate.

In the instant case the lower court had the power to recall its mandate to enter a proper award of attorney fees, but that power came to an end when the term of the court expired.

State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co. 405 So.2d 980 (Fla. 1981).

In <u>State Farm</u> this Court reiterated the longstanding public policy that:

All things must have end, even a district court's power to correct inconsistencies. The reasons for this form the bedrock of Anglo-American jurisprudence: "There must be an end of litigation. Public policy as well as the interests of individual litigants, demands it, and the rule just announced is indispensable to such a consummation." (citations omitted) State Farm at 982.

\* \* \* \*

And the 'rule' which determined this end is set out in <u>Lovett</u> and several other Florida cases. An appellate court's power to recall its Mandate is limited to the term during which it was issued. (citations omitted) State Farm at 982-983.

The Appellant's argument that appellate attorney fees and costs should be treated identically in order to establish conflict is not supported by any case law and is in derogation of Rule 9.400 of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure which provides separate and distinct methods for a determination of attorney fees and costs.

Simply put, the Third District's decision in this case does not even remotely conflict with <u>Masser</u> or existing Florida law.

The Third District's decision also does not expressly and directly conflict with this Court's decision in Finklestein v. North Broward Hospital District, 484 So.2d 1941 (Fla 1986). The most obvious reason for the lack of express and direct conflict is that Finklestein involved a post judgment award of costs and fees in the trial court. The instant case involves a post mandate award of attorney fees. A request for Appellate attorney fees is governed by Rule 9.400(b) of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure which requires service of a motion for attorney fees no later than the time for service of the reply brief. Clearly, the purpose of the requirement for the service of the motion for attorney fees is so the Appellate Court may decide all substantive issues, including attorney fees, when it enters its decision.

Even in <u>Finklestein</u>, this Court held that the jurisdiction to entertain post judgment fees and costs by a trial court continued only for a "reasonable time." at 1243. The award of attorney fees was not made in this case until <u>54</u> days after the mandate issued.

Finally, this Court should not exercise its discretion to review this case because, unlike the trial court in <u>Finklestein</u>, there is already a method available for an appellate court to reacquire jurisdiction after its mandate is issued. That is simply to request a recall of the mandate which is available until the term of Court expires. In this case the party requesting attorney fees had the opportunity to request a recall of the mandate, but it never did.

#### POINT II

# THE DECISION BELOW DOES EXPRESSLY EFFECT A CLASS OF CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATE OFFICERS

The Appellant's quotation from <u>Spradley v. State</u>, 293 So.2d 697 (Fla. 1974) is conveniently incomplete. The full sentence of this Court's opinion reads:

To vest this Court with certiorari jurisdiction, a decision must **directly** and, in some way, **exclusively** affect the duties, powers, validity, formation, termination or regulation of a particular class of constitutional state officers. <u>Spradley</u> at 701.<sup>1</sup>

The decision below does not directly and exclusively or expressly affect the powers of the judges of the Appellate Court because the Appellate Court below never had the "power" to make an award of attorney fees after the issuance of a mandate. In addition, the decision below involved the jurisdiction of the Appellate division of the Circuit Court and does not expressly and directly affect any particular judge since the decision is in conformity with prior existing case law. In fact, the only party to benefit from any decision in this case would be the party below who applied for an award of attorney fees.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>It is also important to note that <u>Spradley</u> was decided before the most recent amendment to Article 5 Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution which added the word "Expressly" to the Jurisdictional requirements of that section.

## CONCLUSION

The Appellee respectfully requests that this Court decline to accept jurisdiction in this case based upon the argument addressed herein.

> FREEDMAN & VEREBAY, P.A. 190 N.E. 199th Street

Suite 204

North Miami Beach, FL. 33179

F.B.N.# 3282,61

(305) 651-0075 (Pade) (305) 920-9119 (Broward)